ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1255

THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D.,
and THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D., P.A.,

Petitioners,

vs.

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE PALM BEACHES, INC.
d/b/a HUMANA HOSPITAL - PALM BEACHES,
and HUMANA, INC.,

Respondents.

On Petition for Discretionary Review
of a Decision of the
Third District Court of Appeal

PETITIONERS' AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

Law Offices of
R. Stuart Huff, Esq.
330 Alhambra Circle
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
(305) 448-8000

Lawrence & Daniels
100 North Biscayne Boulevard
21st Floor, New World Tower
Miami, Florida 33132
(305) 358-3371

Attorneys for Petitioners

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL
JUN 23 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY DJ

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Facts

Juror Truman Skinner, a 30-year member of the Florida Bar, lied repeatedly on voir dire about his prior legal affairs. He misrepresented, at the outset, that he had "retired" from the practice of law. Post-trial investigation revealed that Skinner had not "retired." He had stolen \$283,000 from his trust account over 15 months in what the Bar's auditor called a "pattern" of embezzlement, and faced certain disbarment. Based on this offense and Skinner's three prior disciplinary actions for misuse of clients' funds, this Court allowed Skinner to disciplinarily resign from the Florida Bar in 1994. The United States Supreme Court disbarred him in 1995.

Skinner lied about other legal matters. Defense counsel asked the jurors whether they had been parties to any "contract" actions. The plaintiffs' claims in this case were for breach of contract and fraud. Skinner represented that he had been a party to only two contract actions. Post-trial inspection of court records showed that Skinner had been a party in at least 23 contract actions, most in the 1990's, in Dade County alone.

The jurors also were asked whether they had been parties to any type of lawsuit *other* than one involving breach of contract. Skinner remained silent. Post-trial investigation showed that Skinner had been a party in over 26 *other* types of actions, many of them recent, including 24 in Dade County. These actions involved a variety of significant claims against Skinner including claims for fraud and intentional tort. Skinner likewise failed to reveal that he had been federally indicted for RICO fraud, and sued civilly for RICO fraud in federal court.

Skinner's undisclosed litigation was highly material to the jury selection process in this fraud and contract action. Had plaintiffs known of the magnitude and type of Skinner's prior litigation and wrongdoing they would have used a challenge to remove him.

Skinner was elected foreperson of the jury. He immediately began disparaging the plaintiffs' theories and proofs to other jurors in violation of the judge's instructions not to discuss the case. The jury rendered a verdict for the defendants.

The trial judge denied plaintiffs' motion for new trial and motion to interview Skinner and other jurors under Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.431(h), and entered judgment for defendants. Plaintiffs appealed.

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed in a "Per Curiam" decision that cited, inter alia, Tejada v. Roberts, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D 475 (Fla. 3d DCA February 23, 2000), clarified, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D 1070 (Fla. 3d DCA May 3, 2000); App.3-7. Kelly v. Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches, et al., 25 Fla. L. Weekly D 626 (Fla. 3d DCA March 8, 2000); App.1-2. The district court denied plaintiffs' motion for rehearing on May 10, 2000, and petitioners filed their notice invoking this Court's jurisdiction on June 6, 2000.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In its per curiam affirmance of the trial court's judgment, the Third District Court of Appeal relied upon Tejada v. Roberts. Tejada expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court, De La Rosa v. Zequeira, and with a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, Ford Motor Co. v. D'Amario, on the same question of law: whether an investigation into a juror's voir dire answers concerning the juror's litigation history, if done post-trial, comes too late to preserve the issue of the juror's misrepresentations for appellate review.

A petition for review is presently pending before this Court in Tejada. Review already has been granted in Ford Motor. Under well-

established principles of conflict jurisdiction exemplified by cases such as Jollie v. State, the present case should be accepted for review and should remain in the same appellate 'pipeline' as Tejada and Ford Motor.

ARGUMENT

Tejada Announces a New Rule of Trial Procedure that Expressly and Directly Conflicts with a Decision of this Court and of another District Court of Appeal On the Same Question of Law

A.

Jurisdiction

Jurisdiction in this case is proper under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The decision in Tejada v. Roberts expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions in De La Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1995), and Ford Motor Co. v. D'Amario, 732 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), on the same question of law.

A petition for discretionary review was filed in Roberts v. Tejada, SC00-1080, on May 15, 2000, and is still pending before this Court. Review was previously granted in Ford Motor Co. D'Amario, as reported at 743 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1999).

Jurisdiction is therefore proper in this case under the rule stated in, inter alia, Newell v. State, 714 So.2d 434 (Fla. 1998), State v. Lofton, 534 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 1988), Harrison v. Hyster Co., 515 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1987), and Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981). These cases hold that where, as here, a “Per Curiam Affirmed” decision cites as controlling authority a decision that is pending review in this Court, prima facie conflict exists for jurisdictional purposes.

B.

Law

Tejada v. Roberts, on which the district court relied, holds:

[T]he time to check the jurors’ names against the clerk’s lawsuit index is at the conclusion of jury selection. If a party does not request the opportunity to make the record search, then that litigant will not be heard to complain later about nondisclosure of information which could have been disclosed by reference to the clerk’s index.

25 Fla. L. Weekly at D 476. This holding expressly and directly conflicts with De La Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1995), quashing, 627 So.2d 531(Fla.3d DCA 1993).

In De La Rosa, this Court explicitly approved the post-trial investigation of juror voir dire answers. In the district court opinion in De La Rosa, 627 So.2d at 533 n.6, which this Court quashed, the majority stated with respect to the requirement of diligence in discovering the falsity of a juror's voir dire answers:

There is also considerable doubt about the [diligence] condition. The information about [juror] Edmonson was compiled from a computer search of the public records obviously conducted by plaintiff's counsel only after the jury had found against him. This set of circumstances not only invites the question of why the investigation was not "diligently" conducted previously but, more significantly, presents the disquieting practice of exposing jurors, who have done nothing more than honestly perform their civic duty, to the invasion of their private affairs because they have had the temerity to find against a particular litigant.

Judge Baskin, in dissent, responded to each of these concerns:

As for the due diligence branch of the test, I find counsel's efforts sufficient. The prospective jurors were questioned in different ways regarding involvement in prior lawsuits. The majority's holding would require counsel to question each juror individually and obtain a response. In addition, the majority mandates pre-verdict discovery of juror concealment even though *Bernal* does not require counsel to discover the concealed facts prior to the return of verdict. *Bernal*, 580 So.2d at 316 ("Subsequent to verdict, plaintiffs learned that

juror Parejo had previously been a defendant in a personal injury lawsuit.”)(e.s.); *Wilson*, 537 So.2d at 1102 (“Industrial Fire learned *after the trial* that juror Norbert Perets (who was the jury foreperson) had been insured by Industrial Fire....”)(e.s.). I see no reason to extend Bernal’s due diligence requirements and would not impose on counsel the onerous burden of investigating the venire during the trial. [underlined emphasis supplied]

Finally, I disagree with the majority’s suggestion that counsel’s investigation concerning information given during voir dire is a “disquieting practice,” slip op. at 6 n.6, where, as here, a juror fails to reveal lawsuit participation. “It is the duty of a juror to fully and truthfully answer questions on voir dire, neither falsely stating any fact, nor concealing any material matter, since full knowledge of all material and relevant matters is essential to the fair and just exercise of the right to challenge either peremptorily or for cause.” *Loftin v. Wilson*, 67 So.2d 185, 192 (Fla. 1953)(citations omitted). The juror in question was not “honestly perform[ing his] civic duty...,” slip op. at 6 n.6; a search of the public records is by definition not an “invasion of [a juror’s] private affairs,” id; and the “disquieting” facet of such practice is the juror’s failure to disclose the requested information, not counsel’s efforts to seek the truth.

Id. at 534.

This Court adopted Judge Baskin’s dissent and quashed the district court’s decision:

Judge Baskin's dissenting opinion contains a complete yet concise analysis of all of the issues involved herein. Rather than repeat that analysis, we approve and adopt her opinion as our own. [e.s.]

Id. 659 So.2d at 242. It is therefore clear that the precise rule announced in Tejada — that any public records investigation of a juror's litigation history must be concluded before the jury is empanelled — was explicitly rejected by this Court in De La Rosa.

The holding in Tejada v. Roberts on the foregoing issue also expressly and directly conflicts with the decision in Ford Motor Co. v. D'Amario, 732 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), rev. granted, 743 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1999). Ford Motor states:

After the jury rendered a verdict in favor of the appellant, the appellees hired an investigator to do a background check on the jurors solely based on the adverse verdict. This investigation was limited to a public records search. We would note that our courts have approved this type of post-verdict investigation without requiring a reasonable suspicion of prior misconduct [citing De La Rosa].

732 So.2d at 1145.

CONCLUSION

By virtue of the district court's reliance on Tejada, express and direct conflict exists between the decision in this case and the

decisions in De La Rosa and Ford Motor. This petition should therefore be granted.