ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 0 7 20

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Case Number: SC00-1255

THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D. and THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D., P.A.,

Petitioners,

٧.

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE PALM BEACHES, INC. d/b/a HUMANA HOSPITAL - PALM BEACHES, and HUMANA INC.

Respondents.

On Petition for Discretionary Review of a Decision of the Third District Court of Appeal Case Number: 3D98-0907

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BUCKINGHAM, DOOLITTLE & BURROUGHS, LLP 2500 North Military Trail, Suite 480 Boca Raton, FL 33431

Phone: (561)241-0414 Fax: (561)241-9766 HALICZER, PETTIS & WHITE 101 N.E. Third Avenue Sixth Floor Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioners' recitation of the facts is an attempt to shock this Court into accepting discretionary review of this matter based upon facts that are mischaracterized and unsupported by the record. These tactics were rejected by the trial court and the Third District Court of Appeal. Additionally, a review of those "facts" is not necessary for this Court to make a jurisdictional determination in this matter. Once again, however, the Respondents are compelled to briefly respond, lest silence be interpreted as agreement.

This was a breach of contract and fraudulent inducement case between Dr. Kelly and Humana Hospital of the Palm Beaches and Humana, Inc. (collectively, Humana). Following a defense verdict, Kelly's counsel conducted an investigation of the jurors, including personal interviews with several of the jurors/alternates, and subsequently moved for a formal jury interview or new trial due to alleged juror misconduct. The motions were denied by the trial court, as was Kelly's motion for rehearing. Kelly then appealed the case to the Third District Court of Appeal based on alleged jury misconduct, and other various evidentiary and jury instruction issues. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the verdict and the trial court's rulings including the refusal to allow a jury interview or grant a new trial. The affirmance was per curiam with cites to a number of authorities. See Kelly v. Community

Hospital of the Palm Beaches, 756 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). Following this unfavorable result, Kelly sought rehearing, rehearing en banc, certification to this Court as passing on a question of great public importance, and consolidation with Tejeda v. Roberts, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D475 (Fla. 3d DCA February 23, 2000), clarified, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1070 (Fla. 3d DCA May 3, 2000), one case cited in the per curiam affirmance. The Third District promptly denied each motion.

During the post-trial and appellate proceedings, Humana took the position that Kelly was not entitled to a jury interview or a new trial. Kelly failed to prove that Mr. Skinner omitted material facts during voir dire questioning because, at best, Mr. Skinner's responses to the questions were ambiguous, and were not misrepresentations of material facts. More importantly, Kelly's counsel never took the opportunity to inquire about Mr. Skinner's occupation, the circumstances surrounding his retirement or his prior litigation history in an attempt to clarify his responses to those questions. In support of this argument, Humana cited to Kelly's own brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeals, where his attorneys readily admitted that they "forgot to ask the jurors about their prior lawsuits" and "inadvertently failed to ask Skinner any questions about his prior litigation." Further, in order to allow the jury interview requested by Kelly, the court would have necessarily inquired into the thought processes of the jurors, which is impermissible under Florida law.

Neither of the parties, nor the trial court raised the issue of the timeliness of Kelly's investigation of the jurors. Nevertheless, Kelly seeks discretionary review from this Court based on his assumption that the Third District cited to <u>Tejeda</u> for the proposition that the jury investigation must be conducted, if at all, prior to the commencement of the trial, and that <u>Tejeda</u> expressly and directly conflicts with pre-existing law. There was no explanation or clarification for why <u>Tejeda</u> was cited by the Third District Court of Appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The only basis upon which the Petitioners can possibly seek discretionary review in this case is pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, for decisions of the district courts of appeal that "expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." There is no such express and direct conflict that can be determined from the per curiam affirmance of the Third District.

The Third District affirmed the trial court's decision to refuse a new trial or a jury interview based on long-standing principles of law. The decision cites to a number of different authorities, all of which support the affirmance of the trial court's ruling based on Kelly's failure to present sufficient evidence to show that the

jury service in this case, and/or that the failure to disclose that information was not due to Kelly, or his counsel's own lack of diligence.

Kelly's contention that the Third District's citation to its earlier opinion in Tejeda, among the other cases cited, was related to the timing of the jury investigation is speculative and unsupported by the record in this case. None of the parties ever raised this issue during the post-trial or appellate proceedings. Even if Tejeda had been cited solely for that reason, the per curiam affirmance in this case does not expressly and directly conflict with any prior decision of this Court or the other district courts of appeal.

ARGUMENT

This Court should not accept discretionary review of this case where the district court's per curiam affirmance does not expressly and directly conflict with other decisions of this Court or the other district courts of appeal.

Rule 9.030 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure sets forth the grounds upon which a party may seek discretionary review in this Court. This particular case does not involve state statutes, constitutional issues or state officers. Although the Petitioners' requested that the case be certified to this Court as passing on an issue of great public importance, the Third District refused. Additionally, the case was not certified based on any asserted conflict with decisions of other district courts

of appeal and Kelly did not request such certification. Thus, the Petitioners' quest for discretionary review by this Court is based on an argument that the Third District's per curiam affirmance expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court, or a decision of another district court of appeal. See 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla. R. App. P. It does not. Therefore, there is no basis for review.

A. The Third District's decision cited to a number of cases, other than <u>Tejeda</u>, all of which support its affirmance of the verdict and the trial court's refusal to permit a jury interview or grant a new trial.

A review of the cases cited in support of the Third District's per curiam affirmance negates Kelly's argument. It is evident that the per curiam affirmance was based on various pre-existing rules of law. Those cases support the affirmance independent of and in addition to the reasons why the Third District Court of Appeals may have cited to <u>Tejeda</u>.

For example, the Third District's per curiam affirmance cites to <u>Taylor v.</u>

<u>Public Health Trust of Dade County</u>, 546 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), *rev. denied*, 557 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1989). <u>Taylor</u> involved a factually similar situation wherein the plaintiff alleged misconduct on the part of a juror who eventually became the foreman. In <u>Taylor</u>, the Third District held that the trial court had not abused its discretion in denying the plaintiff's motion for a new trial based on a one-word response during voir dire examination. <u>Id.</u> at 734. The court further

concluded that the statement was not necessarily a misrepresentation and also pointed out plaintiff's counsel's lack of diligence:

Contrary to the plaintiff's argument, the subject response was ambiguous in nature and did not constitute, as urged, a misrepresentation of fact concerning the juror's involvement with a pending lawsuit; moreover, the plaintiff's counsel made no inquiry into this matter and did not seek to clarify the ambiguous response.

Id. Likewise, in Salmon v. State, 755 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), also cited in the per curiam affirmance in Kelly, the Third District concluded that the complaining party's allegations of juror misconduct were "insufficient to find that the juror lacked the requisite impartial state of mind to render a fair verdict." Id. The Salmon court similarly concluded the alleged non-disclosures by jurors were "insufficient as a matter of law to vitiate the entire trial.") Id. (citation omitted).

This is exactly the position taken by Humana in the present case. Mr. Skinner's responses to voir dire questions by the <u>defense</u> were, at worst, ambiguous, and Kelly's counsel failed to use due diligence despite being given a second opportunity to question the jury panel. In fact, Kelly's counsel elected not to question Mr. Skinner about these issues at all. The Third District's citation to <u>Taylor</u> and <u>Salmon</u> is in line with Humana's arguments and, alone, supports the affirmance of the trial court's action.

It is also important to point out that the timing of the background investigation

of the jurors was never an issue in this case. This issue was never previously raised by Kelly. It was not raised by Humana in response to Kelly's post-trial motions or on appeal. Kelly's assumption that this Court's citation of <u>Tejeda</u> was based on this principle is, therefore, an unsupported one. <u>Tejeda</u>, in fact, speaks to a number of other issues, all of which are applicable to this case.

Like Kelly, Humana can only speculate about the reasons for the Third District's citation to <u>Tejeda</u>. However, a review of <u>Tejeda</u> suggests that the Third District's reversal was <u>not</u> based on the timing of the juror investigation but, rather, the 3-prong test set forth in <u>De La Rosa v. Zequiera</u>, 659 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1995); i.e., that the alleged non-disclosures were not concealed, were not material, and/or were due to a lack of diligence on the part of the complaining party. These are exactly the issues addressed in the <u>Kelly</u> briefs and at oral argument.

The Third District's affirmance of the trial court's decision in this case was based on various cites other than <u>Tejeda</u>, all of which support the opinion and are in line with the arguments presented by Humana. As such, the cases cited by Kelly for the proposition that this case should remain in the appellate "pipeline" are not applicable. *See, generally*, <u>Newell v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 1998)(where underlying opinion cited case authority that had been quashed by the Supreme Court of Florida); <u>State v. Lofton</u>, 534 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 1988)(where underlying

district court decision merely cited two cases which were pending review in the Supreme Court of Florida); <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981)(where underlying opinion only cited to a case pending review in the Supreme Court of Florida). Further, Kelly's suggestion that the Third District's affirmance and citation to <u>Tejeda</u> were based on the timing of the jury investigation is entirely speculative where that issue was not even raised in the trial court or on appeal.

A. Even if <u>Tejeda</u> had been cited for the reasons Kelly suggests, the per curiam affirmance does not expressly and directly conflict with <u>De La Rosa</u> or its progeny.

Kelly's second assumption, and the basis for which he seeks discretionary review, is that <u>Tejeda</u> states a new rule of law that is expressly and directly in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>De La Rosa</u>, 659 So. 2d at 239, and <u>Ford Motor Co. v. D'Amario</u>, 732 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), in which the Second District cites to De La Rosa. No such conflict can be found.

As an initial note, counsel for Kelly took the position at oral argument before the Third District that <u>Tejeda</u> set forth a new rule of law. The argument was not well-received by the panel who suggested, to the contrary, that <u>Tejeda</u> merely followed rules of law that existed for some time. In fact, the <u>Tejeda</u> opinion itself mentions that court's impression that existing case law had been misinterpreted and attempts to clarify the analysis to be utilized in cases of alleged juror concealment.

Following the Third District's per curiam affirmance, Kelly also sought rehearing and certification based upon the arguments now presented here: (1) that the <u>Tejeda</u> opinion conflicts with established precedent; and (2) that <u>Tejeda</u> passes upon a question of great public importance. The Third District refused to allow rehearing or to grant certification to this Court. This Court should likewise refuse to grant discretionary review in <u>Kelly</u>.

In <u>De La Rosa</u>, this Court adopted the three-prong test that most courts utilized to determine whether a juror's nondisclosure of information during voir dire warranted a new trial. <u>De La Rosa</u>, 659 So. 2d at 241. Specifically, this Court agreed that the complaining party must establish that the information is relevant and material to jury service, that the juror concealed the information, and that the failure to disclose the information was not attributable to the complaining party's lack of diligence. <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted). This Court's opinion did not directly address the issue of when a jury investigation should, or should not, take place. As such, there is no direct and express conflict, as further evidenced by the <u>Tejeda</u> opinion itself.

The Third District concluded in <u>Tejeda</u> that the plaintiff was not entitled to a new trial because she had failed to satisfy the pre-existing three-prong test adopted by this Court in <u>De La Rosa</u>. <u>Tejeda</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D475-477. Specifically, the court determined that some of the information had not been

"concealed" by the jurors, and that other information was not "material" to jury service in that case. <u>Id.</u> The portion of the opinion discussing the plaintiff's lack of due diligence and describing the timing of a jury investigation expressly states that the argument was never even raised by the parties. Therefore, the "new rule of law" Kelly contends was created in <u>Tejeda</u> does not appear to have been applied to preclude a jury interview or a new trial in <u>Tejeda</u> itself. This certainly undermines Kelly's contention that the timing of the jury investigation had any bearing on the Third District Court of Appeal's per curiam affirmance in <u>Kelly</u>.

CONCLUSION

The jury issues and all other evidentiary matters on appeal in this case appear before this Court and the other Florida courts on a regular basis and no special issue of great public importance has been raised. The Third District relied on well-settled case law in affirming the verdict and the trial court's refusal to allow a jury interview or a new trial. Accordingly, this Court should refuse to accept discretionary jurisdiction of this per curiam affirmance which, in and of itself, does not conflict with any prior decisions of this, or any other, Court.